

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



FCND DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 154

CULTIVATING NUTRITION: A SURVEY OF VIEWPOINTS ON INTEGRATING AGRICULTURE AND NUTRITION

Carol E. Levin, Jennifer Long, Kenneth R. Simler, and Charlotte Johnson-Welch

Food Consumption and Nutrition Division

International Food Policy Research Institute 2033 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 U.S.A. (202) 862–5600 Fax: (202) 467–4439

July 2003

Copyright © 2003 International Food Policy Research Institute

FCND Discussion Papers contain preliminary material and research results, and are circulated prior to a full peer review in order to stimulate discussion and critical comment. It is expected that most Discussion Papers will eventually be published in some other form, and that their content may also be revised.

Abstract

Over the past decade, donor-funded policies and programs designed to address undernutrition in the Global South have shifted away from agriculture-based strategies toward nutrient supplementation and food fortification programs. Given the potential benefits resulting from agriculture-based nutrition interventions, this study uses Q methodology to explore the views of a range of stakeholders from both developed and developing countries on the value of-and constraints related to-gender-sensitive, nutrition-oriented agricultural projects. The three distinct viewpoints that emerge from this exercise all support the use of agricultural strategies to improve nutrition and underline the importance of gender-sensitive approaches. The viewpoints differ, however, on the relative importance of nutrition education, the strategic use of nutrient supplementation and food fortification, and the degree to which agriculture-based approaches have an impact on nutrition. The findings indicate that there is common ground among a range of stakeholders—donors, researchers, policymakers, and program practitioners-on the benefits of agriculture and gender-sensitive strategies to improve nutrition. These areas of agreement can serve as a foundation for forging an effective integrative strategy to improve nutrition that includes gender-sensitive agricultural approaches.

Keywords: nutrition, agriculture, gender, Q methodology

Contents

Acknowledgments	v
1. Introduction	1
2. Background	2
3. Methodology	6
Q Methodology Selection of Participants	
4. Results	9
Respondent Descriptions Emergent Factors Factor 1: The Multi-Benefit Viewpoint	10
Factor 2: The Context-Specific Viewpoint Factor 3: The Sustainability-Oriented Viewpoint	11
Areas of Consensus	
Salience of Categories by Viewpoint	13
Relationship Between Viewpoints and Respondent Characteristics	14
5. Discussion	15
Appendix 1: Forty-eight Q-sort statements, by effects (category and agreement) and factor sort values for each group	20
Appendix 2: Statements with highest level of agreement and disagreement, by viewpoint (factor)	24
Appendix 3: Salience of categories for viewpoints of each group, by statement number and agreement category	25
References	26

Tables

1.	Association of viewpoints with disciplines of respondents	14
2.	Association of viewpoints with institutional affiliations of respondents	15
3.	Association of viewpoints with nationality of respondents	16

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the U.S. Agency for International Development, Bureau for Africa, for the initial funding to conduct this study, and the Rockefeller Foundation for additional funding. We thank David Pelletier for his assistance in designing and interpreting the survey, and his detailed comments on an earlier draft of this paper. We also thank Howdy Bouis, Derek Byerlee, Hilary Sims Feldstein, Lawrence Haddad, Cheryl Jackson, Kathy Kurz, Bonnie McClafferty, Cheryl Morden, and Barbara Underwood for their comments. The study has also benefited from discussions with workshop participants in Nairobi and Washington, D.C. Finally, we gratefully acknowledge the contributions of the survey respondents. The authors are solely responsible for any remaining errors.

Carol E. Levin Program for Appropriate Technology in Health

Jennifer Long University of California at Los Angeles

Kenneth R. Simler International Food Policy Research Institute

Charlotte Johnson-Welch International Center for Research on Women

1. Introduction

Agriculture-based strategies have been proposed or used to address malnutrition by researchers, governments, international organizations such as the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the World Bank, and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) for over two decades (Peduzzi 1990; Soleri, Cleveland, and Frankenberger 1991; Soleri, Cleveland, and Wood 1991). However, in the last 10 years, donors have increasingly favored approaches such as micronutrient supplementation and food fortification to address malnutrition. Despite the argument that agriculture-based approaches provide more sustainable nutrition outcomes and other development benefits than supplementation and fortification, it is unclear why there has not been widespread or sustained investment in agriculture to address malnutrition.

Changes in development discourse and practice, such as an increased focus on sustainable development and stakeholder participation, have also occurred in the last 10 years. For instance, there has been an acknowledgment that development interventions often have unintended gender impacts that undercut the effectiveness of policies and programs. This suggests the need—among other things—to develop gender-sensitive agriculture and nutrition strategies if programs are to effectively reduce malnutrition and achieve other development goals. Furthermore, to develop more effective nutritional interventions, the perspectives and priorities of many participants must be understood and considered.

The objective of this study was to explore the perceptions and beliefs of a diverse group of stakeholders on addressing malnutrition in the Global South. Specifically, the aim was to identify their views regarding the value of, and constraints related to, gendersensitive, nutrition-oriented agriculture strategies. The authors were interested in exploring views on a broad range of agricultural approaches to address malnutrition, not only food-based approaches. This study aimed to elucidate the viewpoints of stakeholders and to facilitate dialogue on whether and how to effect cross-sectoral and institutional collaboration to improve nutrition.

2. Background

Chronic energy, protein, and micronutrient deficiencies, and poor growth continue to affect children in the developing world, particularly in Africa where rates of malnutrition have actually increased (ACC/SCN 2000). Also, in the developing world, there is the growing double burden of under- and overnutrition—sometimes found within the same household (Garrett, Ruel, and Hussain 2000). Undernutrition results from both direct causes such as inadequate care, insufficient food consumption, and poor health, and indirect causes such as household food insecurity, lack of employment opportunities, and low status of women (Kurz and Johnson-Welch 2001). It is often claimed that such diverse causes demand cross-sectoral and institutional collaboration to reduce rates of malnutrition. Popkin, Horton, and Kim (2000) have proposed that—particularly given the increasing prevalence of overnutrition in the developing world—nutrition policy be developed by systematically merging health and agricultural concerns.

Programs and policies designed to reduce malnutrition have employed various strategies, such as improved caregiving, health interventions, and increased access to food. One study estimated that up to 26 percent of observed declines in rates of malnutrition resulted from improvements in per capita food availability at the national level (Smith and Haddad 2000). However, efforts to address issues of food access, care, and health simultaneously are rare. For these to occur, multiple sectors must coordinate and direct their resources toward sustainably accelerating the rate of improvements in nutritional well-being.

Investments in agriculture in the developing world can have multiple benefits: small-scale agriculture is still essential for economic growth and serves as the main economic activity for most of the population. Agriculture produces food and on- and offfarm income, and agricultural development can result in lower food prices for all. Those benefits are "mediated," however, by a number of factors (including gender). These factors are related to who makes decisions and controls access to and use of resources and benefits—within households and other institutions. Gender-sensitive agricultural strategies are promising, as they may stimulate changes not only in household and national economies, but also in food security and human nutrition.

One study carried out in East Africa can serve as an example of the importance of multisectoral approaches to improve nutrition. In Kenya, new varieties of orange-fleshed sweet potatoes were introduced to women farmers (Hagenimana et al. 1999). The intake of calories and vitamin A-rich foods was significantly higher among children whose mothers received the full intervention package (education in agriculture, health, and nutrition, plus training in food processing and preparation techniques) than it was among children whose mothers received only the agricultural inputs (Hagenimana et al. 2001). These findings, in addition to those from four other action-research studies (Johnson-Welch 1999), indicate that food-based¹ interventions at the community level—as an example of an agricultural intervention—can yield timely nutrition benefits if they begin by addressing gender issues and making investments in women. These findings complement earlier findings of the value of using gender analysis in farming systems research and evaluation (Feldstein and Poats 1989), agricultural productivity (Mehra 1994), and institutional efforts to ensure food security (Johnson-Welch et al. 2000). However, despite this demonstrated potential, interventions have been isolated and smallscale, so the search for effective gender-sensitive agriculture-based nutrition interventions requires further attention.

Research and programs strengthening gender-sensitive agricultural strategies to improve nutrition have existed for over 20 years (Peduzzi 1990; Soleri, Cleveland, and Frankenberger 1991; Soleri, Cleveland, and Wood 1991). In the early 1980s, a U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) policy paper on nutrition described nutrition as "a critical input as well as an essential output of development programs" (USAID 1982). It explained that multisectoral approaches engaging gender-sensitive

¹ Food-based strategies to reduce micronutrient malnutrition include agricultural programs to increase commercial and/or household production of micronutrient rich foods through research in agronomy and plant breeding. Food-based strategies also include postharvest technologies, nutrition communication, and behavior change communication to increase the consumption of micronutrient rich foods.

agricultural strategies to address nutrition were needed, and argued that such approaches should focus primarily on nutrition (USAID 1982). In the early 1980s, the World Bank explored the nutritional consequences of agricultural projects (Pinstrup-Andersen 1981). In 1984, the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) sponsored an international conference on international agricultural research and human nutrition. This conference focused on how agricultural research, food production, and farm incomes could improve nutritional status. One strategy that was promoted in the early 1980s was the inclusion of nutrition objectives in agricultural research projects (Pinstrup-Andersen, Berg, and Forman 1984; Tripp 1990). Efforts to strengthen agriculture and nutrition linkages in research, policy, and program planning continued into the early 1990s (Kennedy and Bouis 1993; Kennedy 1994).

In the last five years, a number of international conferences in Africa, Asia, and the United States have focused on promoting gender-sensitive agriculture and nutrition policies and programs.² These meetings addressed such topics as promoting food-based strategies to reduce micronutrient deficiencies and the connections between nutrition and development (e.g., see *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 21: 4, December 2000). These conferences suggest an awareness among development professionals of the importance of using agriculture to address nutrition. While it is difficult to determine the degree to which these conferences have led to tangible actions, some donor organizations have begun to demonstrate an interest in the connections between agriculture and nutrition. Bilateral donors such as USAID and multilateral donors such as the World Bank have recently indicated an awareness of the opportunities agriculture offers to reduce hunger and poverty (USAID 2000). Yet the shift is slow and the implications of these views on resource allocations are still unclear.

Over the last decade, donors have placed increasing emphasis on using food fortification or nutrient supplementation strategies to address malnutrition, particularly

² These conferences included one organized by IFPRI held at the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) in the Philippines, and another held in Ethiopia that was organized by USAID's Greater Horn of Africa Initiative (GHAI), both in 1999.

for micronutrient malnutrition. It is unclear why the donor community prefers these approaches, as agricultural strategies for addressing malnutrition are potentially more sustainable and have broader impact. Perhaps donors believe that community-based, integrated strategies are complicated, costly, and take a long time to yield results, and thus are difficult to evaluate over the short term. A nutrient supplementation project, on the other hand, can easily be evaluated for short-term impact using readily available biochemical indicators such as serum retinol. Another possible reason for the decreasing emphasis on linkages between agriculture and nutrition is the belief that such approaches are less cost-effective than food fortification or nutrient supplementation. Donors have consistently pointed to a lack of data to support the effectiveness of agriculture-based interventions, or they contend that the outcome indicators are not rigorous enough. There is much evidence to the contrary, however. For example, the International Center for Research on Women (ICRW) demonstrated how integrative approaches including agriculture-yielded beneficial nutrition impacts in Kenya, Tanzania, Peru, Thailand, and Ethiopia (Johnson-Welch 1999). Alternatively, structural changes in donor agencies may shift the focus from agriculture to other areas, such as health and family planning. For example, USAID transferred its nutrition division from the agriculture program to its population and health program in 1992. The clear shift in USAID's approach to addressing malnutrition can be seen in a comparison of USAID's 1982 Nutrition Policy Paper and its 1999 Strategic Plan for the Center for Population, Health and Nutrition (USAID 1982, 1999). In the 1982 document, USAID promoted gender-sensitive agricultural approaches to improve nutrition, while the 1999 document discusses ways to improve nutrition through decreasing infection (USAID 1999). In this instance, nutrition is still being addressed using a multisectoral approach, but one that pays no attention to agriculture.

A truly sustainable, multisectoral strategy should engage the areas of care, health, *and* agriculture, as the agricultural component can confer a range of other benefits in addition to improved nutritional outcomes. Given the multiple benefits of agricultural interventions, more information is needed to understand the reasons for the shift away

from agricultural strategies to food fortification and nutrient supplementation programs. This study can inform those interested in improving the nutritional status of people in the developing world of the ways in which stakeholders view multisectoral approaches to improving nutrition. This can lead to a better understanding of how these views shape the potential of future multisectoral initiatives to improve nutrition.

3. Methodology

This study characterized viewpoints regarding gender-sensitive, agriculture-based approaches to nutrition in developing countries. Stakeholders were drawn from a cross-section of disciplinary perspectives and global regions. Q methodology (Brown 1980) was used as it enables the researcher to identify viewpoints and to explore the nuances among viewpoints revealed in the study.

Q Methodology

As described in Brown (1980), respondents using Q methodology sort a set of statements that represents the discourse on the topic being studied. In Q methodology, the Q concourse is a set of statements that represents the range of views on a particular topic; in this case, stakeholders' views on the value of linking agriculture and nutrition.

Respondents are given a subset of statements from the Q concourse; this subset is known as the Q sample. Respondents sort the Q sample, indicating their degree of agreement or disagreement with each statement. The Q methodology offers the opportunity to explore views that may explain why the linkages between nutrition and agriculture have not been employed to address nutrition problems. This methodology also enables the researcher to explore why gender analysis and other gender methodologies may not have been used systematically to inform the development of agriculture and nutrition strategies. In Q methodology, the quality of the study findings is contingent on whether the statements are representative of the range of views held and on obtaining a diverse set of respondents. It is not, however, affected by the number of people sorting the statements, because Q seeks to characterize the viewpoints themselves, not their distribution in the larger universe of stakeholders.

The Q concourse was developed from key informant interviews and a review of relevant literature, including conference proceedings and program reports. After reading through the Q concourse, thematic elements emerged from the entire range of statements and were condensed into categories. Eight categories emerged. The statements were grouped in a factorial design of these eight categories (impact, coordination, disciplines, gender, donor support, sustainability, economic benefits, and awareness), with each statement phrased to reveal three possible positions (strongly support, cautiously support, and strongly oppose). The Q sample was selected from among the statements in the Q concourse to represent all possible combinations of categories and positions. For each combination of category and position, two statements were selected, yielding a total of 48 statements in the Q sample. These are shown in Appendix 1.

Respondents were asked to sort the 48 statements into a distribution to reflect their levels of agreement and disagreement, encompassing seven possible responses, ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. Respondents placed the statements into a "forced distribution" according to a pre-established symmetric, quasi-normal distribution typically employed in the Q methodology. This is done by asking respondents to place four statements in each of the "strongly agree" and "strongly disagree" piles, six statements in each of the "agree" and "disagree" piles, eight statements in the "somewhat disagree" and "somewhat agree" piles and 12 statements in the "no opinion or mixed feelings" pile—a seven-point scale.

In instances where respondents felt their true views were not reflected using this forced distribution, they were allowed to sort the statements into piles according to their views. Studies in Q methodology indicate that the Q methodology is robust to such deviations, and that the results are not significantly affected if some respondents choose not to follow the forced distribution (Brown 1971).

The sorted statements (Q sorts) were analyzed to identify groups of people, or factors, that sorted the statements in a similar way. Using specialized software (PQ

Method, version 2.09a, 2000), the data were analyzed with the principal components method and varimax rotation. Initial analysis resulted in three possible models with two, three, or four factors. The three-factor model was selected after an inductive qualitative examination of the different models.

To characterize the viewpoints of each factor, the approach employed by Pelletier et al. (1999) and Wilkins et al. (2001) was used. An average score was calculated from the values assigned by respondents to each of the 48 statements (ranging from –3 for strongly disagree to +3 for strongly agree). Next, for each factor, each respondent's score for each of the 48 statements was converted to a Z-score to standardize the distribution across the 48 statements. The normalized factor scores were arranged from highest degree of agreement (positive Z-scores) to strongest degree of disagreement (negative Zscores) for each factor. Finally, three separate narratives were developed using the top 10 agree and top 10 disagree statements for each of the three factors. This process enabled the identification of areas of both consensus and disagreement among the factors.

Selection of Participants

Participants were selected to represent diverse perspectives by disciplinary specialization, institutional affiliation, and type of work performed. Researchers, program practitioners, policymakers, and advocates in the areas of nutrition, health, gender, economics, and agriculture were selected. These individuals were based in national governmental agencies, multilateral agencies, international finance organizations, private institutions, private voluntary organizations (PVOs), and NGOs. The stakeholders were from Africa, Asia, Europe, Latin America, North America, and Oceania. There was a particular interest in the perspectives of African stakeholders; therefore, one-half of the surveys were sent to stakeholders based in Africa.

A list of potential participants was compiled from nutrition-, gender- and agriculture-related organization mailing lists, workshop participant lists, and through the identification of researchers based in the United States and Europe. Organizations

included the Organization for Social Science Research in Eastern and Southern Africa (OSSREA), the Association for Strengthening Agricultural Research in Eastern and Central Africa (ASARECA), the United Nations Administrative Committee on Coordination/Sub-Committee on Nutrition (ACC/SCN), the International Vitamin A Consultative Group (IVACG), and the Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research (CGIAR). Workshops represented were the 1999 IFPRI/IRRI workshop, a regional workshop in Ethiopia supported by USAID, and a workshop organized by Food Aid Management (FAM), Sharing U.S. Technology to Aid in the Improvement of Nutrition (SUSTAIN), and Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance (FANTA).

Survey packets were mailed to almost 600 participants, of whom approximately 310 were based in Africa. Two follow-up reminders were sent, one by regular mail and one by email. Individuals were given two months to complete and return their response forms by mail, email, or fax. In cases where individuals notified the working group that they had not received their packets, the survey packet was sent electronically. The packet included an explanatory cover letter, instructions on carrying out the Q-sort, a set of statement cards, and a recording sheet that could be returned by mail or fax.

4. Results

Respondent Descriptions

One hundred eighty-four respondents, representing a 31 percent response rate, returned their Q sorts. Six had to be removed because of recording errors. A total of 178 Q sorts, of which 78 were from African respondents (44 percent), were factor analyzed. All the stakeholder groups selected in the original 600-person sample were well represented among survey respondents. Only 7 percent of respondents did not comply with the forced-distribution request, though as stated above, this does not affect the factor results significantly.

Respondents came from major institutional and professional categories, and covered the fields of health, nutrition, and agricultural sciences. Respondent

characteristics were as follows: 30 percent work for academic institutions; 25 percent, for research organizations; 18 percent, for government institutions; 16 percent, for NGOs; and 10 percent, for donors.³ The remaining respondents classified themselves as "other," which included some individuals from international financial institutions. One-half of the respondents indicated they were researchers; 16 percent, policymakers; 11 percent, planners; 17 percent, program implementers; 11 percent, administrators; 18 percent, project managers; and 10 percent, "other." Fifty-two percent of participants were trained in a nutrition- or health-related field, 49 percent were from agriculture-related fields (including agricultural sciences and agricultural economics), and 5 percent identified themselves as sociologists.

Emergent Factors⁴

Three viewpoints are described using summaries of the top 10 agree and top 10 disagree statements from the Q sort; these are summarized in Appendix 2. The numbers following these summary phrases indicate the statement number (see Appendix 1); the subsequent three numbers indicate the rounded factor scores for Factors 1, 2, 3 in that order. This enables the identification of those statements that serve as consensus statements or distinguish viewpoints from each other.

Factor 1: The Multi-Benefit Viewpoint

The core of this viewpoint is the focus on development as its primary objective. Development and its related economic benefits emerge from the improved nutritional status of populations ([1: +3,0,0] and [2: +3,+2,+1]) that can result from the linkages between agriculture and nutrition. Food-based strategies are able to yield multiple benefits, and are therefore integral to development activities ([37: +2,+2,+2], [39: -3,-2,-3] and [8: +3,0,+3]). When developing food-based approaches to improve nutrition,

³ The figures sum to more than 100 percent because some respondents identified themselves as belonging to multiple categories.

⁴ In this discussion, the terms "factor" and "viewpoint" are used interchangeably.

gender is a critical element to be considered ([23: -3, -3, -2] and [24: -3, -3, -1]), and the linkages themselves can improve women's access to resources (37: +2, +2, +2). This viewpoint is confident about the potential and utility of food-based approaches, disagreeing with claims to the contrary ([17: -2, -1, -2], [41: -2, 0, -2], and [42: -2, 0, -3]). While it agreed that some contexts necessitate using traditional public health strategies for certain segments of the population (e.g., supplementation during pregnancy) (34: +2, +3, +1), this concern is largely overshadowed by the commitment to multioutcome programs as derived from food-based interventions. Finally, this viewpoint believes that these linkages have not been implemented more widely because of a lack of political and administrative will (25: +2, +1, +1), but that this could change with increased funding allocated to such programs (26: +3, +2, +3).

Factor 2: The Context-Specific Viewpoint

Pragmatism is the fundamental characteristic of this viewpoint. In this viewpoint, poor nutritional status of populations is the primary theme addressed: in terms of its economic importance ([37: +2, +2, +2] and [2: +3, +2, +1]) and the high priority given to finding appropriate solutions ([33: 0, +3, +2], [34: +2, +3, +1], [31: +1, -3, +2], and[4: +1, +3, +2]). This viewpoint considers all possible strategies for addressing malnutrition, and stresses that the solution should be identified from among a range of approaches (33: 0, +3, +2). Specifically, it is not convinced that food-based approaches should be the primary focus for addressing malnutrition (31: +1, -3, +2), although it recognizes that it has a role to play (5: -3, -3, -3). This viewpoint perceives limits to the utility of agricultural approaches for improving nutrition ([33: 0, +3, +2] and [34: +2, +3, +1]). Yet, the agricultural approach is appreciated for the range of benefits it confers ([39: -3, -2, -3], [37: +2, +2, +2], [2: +3, +2, +1], and [44: +2, +2, +3]) as opposed to its specific contributions to improving nutrition. It acknowledges that poor nutrition affects communities from the household level (37: +2, +2, +2) to the national levels (45: +1, +2, 0). While this viewpoint advocates increased funding to develop synergies between nutrition and agriculture (26: +3, +2, +3), it also acknowledges that this will not

happen without increased lobbying and awareness-raising (28: +1, +2, 0). This viewpoint is particularly sensitive to gender issues, and expresses the critical role gender awareness has in terms of reducing malnutrition ([23: -3, -3, -2], [24: -3, -3, -1], [21: -1, -2, -2], and [20: +1, +3, +1]).

Factor 3: The Sustainability-Oriented Viewpoint

The focus of this viewpoint is using sustainable approaches to improve nutrition ([31: +1, -3, +2] and [8: +3, 0, +3]). Agriculture is preferable to other possible approaches because it generates additional benefits to the communities employing these strategies ([39: -3, -2, -3], [37: +2, +2, +2], and [44: +2, +2, +3]). Agricultural interventions are also considered to be workable solutions to addressing poor nutrition ([5: -3, -3, -3], [35: -2, -3, -3]) 2,-3], [36: -2,-2,-2], [17: -2,-1,-2], and [41: -2,0,-2]). However, the success of agricultural interventions is contingent on concurrent nutrition education ([32: 0,-1,+2] and [4: +1,+3,+2]). While one statement did acknowledge the potential of employing nonfood-based approaches when necessary (33: 0, +3, +2), the bulk of statements that define this factor actively promoted agricultural approaches in coordination with nutrition education strategies. This factor is also concerned that cross-disciplinary ignorance exists among people because of current structures in academic training (15: -1, +1, +3); therefore, curricula need to be developed to educate people across disciplines (13:+1,+1,+2), and funds should be allocated to do so (26:+3,+2,+3). While gender is less of a focus in this viewpoint as compared with the others, there is a degree of sensitivity to its importance in the process of improving nutrition ([23: -3, -3, -2] and [21: -1, -2, -2]).

Areas of Consensus

All three factors concurred that nutrition can be improved and economic benefits realized through incorporating nutrition objectives into agricultural research ([5: -3, -3, -3] and [37: +2, +2, +2]), and all three demonstrated the same general trends in support of

gender-sensitive approaches, as seen in the rounded factor scores for statements 19-24 (Appendix 1).

There was a high level of correlation between factors. The correlation between Factors 1 and 2 was 0.65; between Factors 1 and 3, 0.76; and between Factors 2 and 3, 0.67. An analysis of the overlapping statements for each pair indicated that most of the overlap was shared among all three factors, and the policy implications of this will be discussed below.

Salience of Categories by Viewpoint

All eight categories represented in the Q sample emerged as relevant categories for understanding views about the linkages between agriculture, nutrition, and gender. The salience of the categories by viewpoint can be seen in Appendix 3. In particular, all three viewpoints expressed some level of agreement with statements expressing views on impact, donor support, awareness, sustainability, economic benefits, and gender. Developing effective food systems through improvements in agriculture to improve both human health and generate economic benefits was considered important and possible by all three viewpoints (awareness, 44; economic benefits, 37; and impact, 5). There was a general agreement that food-based approaches have value (sustainability, 35, 36), but dissent emerged among the viewpoints regarding the extent to which food-based approaches should be relied upon to address the range of nutrition problems (sustainability, 33, 34). Yet all viewpoints strongly disagreed with the notion that direct nutrition interventions, such as micronutrient supplementation and food fortification, should be preferred over agricultural strategies, given that agricultural production strategies yield a variety of additional benefits (economic benefits, 39). While gendersensitive strategies were valued across all viewpoints (gender, 23, 24), this category drew a particularly strong, positive response from the second viewpoint. All three viewpoints agreed that progress in the development of gender-sensitive agriculture and nutrition strategies requires lobbying efforts to increase the resources allocated to this agenda

(donor support, 26). In some instances, the salience of certain categories was greater for only two of the viewpoints. For example, viewpoints 1 and 3 agreed that linkages among agriculture, nutrition, and health were necessary to reverse the effects of previous policies and programs that had been unsustainable and did not address the underlying issues of malnutrition (coordination, 8).

While the categories serve as a useful framework for understanding the potential for promoting and engaging linkages between agriculture, nutrition, and gender, the viewpoint narratives themselves offer independent contexts for understanding the differences among the factors. Furthermore, respondent characteristics are particularly helpful in understanding the policy implications of these results.

Relationship Between Viewpoints and Respondent Characteristics

Of the survey respondents, 32 percent loaded most strongly on the multi-benefit viewpoint (Factor 1), 30 percent on the context-specific viewpoint (Factor 2), and 20 percent on the sustainability-oriented viewpoint (Factor 3), leaving 18 percent of respondents not significantly loading on any of the three factors. The breakdown of factor loading by academic discipline is seen in Table 1. Nutritionists are well-represented across all three viewpoints, while those who identified themselves as having been trained in the health sciences tended to load more significantly on the multi-benefit and context-specific viewpoints (Factors 1 and 2). Forty-four percent of agricultural scientists loaded on the multi-benefit viewpoint, whereas only 10 percent loaded on the

Viewpoint (percent	total sample)	Nutrition (N = 68)	Other health sciences (N = 25)	Agricultural sciences (N = 48)	Agricultural economics (N = 38)	Other (N = 29)
			(col	umn percentage	s)	
1) Multi-benefit	(32)	21	32	44	21	45
2) Context-specific	(30)	32	40	10	47	38
3) Sustainability	(20)	28	4	27	13	3
Non-loaders	(18)	19	24	19	18	14
Total	(100)	100	100	100	100	100

Table 1—Association of viewpoints with disciplines of respondents

context-specific viewpoint. Among those trained in agricultural economics, 47 percent loaded on the context-specific viewpoint, with less than half of that percentage loading on either the first or third viewpoints.

The relationship between organizational affiliation and factor loading is shown in Table 2. A near majority of those reporting to be affiliated with a government or research institution loaded most strongly on the multi-benefit viewpoint. Those associated with academic institutions tended to be equally loaded on all viewpoints, while three-quarters of those connected to donor organizations loaded most heavily on the context-specific viewpoint, with none loading on the sustainability-oriented viewpoint.⁵

	-					
		Government	Academic	Research	Donor	NGO/PVO
Viewpoint (percent	total sample)	(N = 32)	(N = 54)	(N = 45)	(N = 19)	(N = 29)
			(column	percentages)	
1) Multi-benefit	(32)	44	26	49	11	41
2) Context-specific	(30)	22	31	18	74	31
3) Sustainability	(20)	22	24	18	0	7
Non-loaders	(18)	12	19	16	16	21
Total	(100)	100	100	100	100	100

Table 2—Association of viewpoints with institutional affiliations of respondents

The association of African respondents to the three viewpoints was remarkably different from those of non-Africans, as seen in Table 3. Among African respondents, 59 percent loaded on the multi-benefit viewpoint, with far fewer loading on the second and third viewpoints. Among non-Africans, 46 percent loaded on the context-specific viewpoint, while only 10 percent of African respondents loaded on this viewpoint.

5. Discussion

This study has explored the views of a multinational cross-disciplinary group of stakeholders on the potential for gender-sensitive agriculture and nutrition strategies to

⁵ For the survey, "academic" institutions are distinguished from "research" institutions in that the former were defined specifically as universities and colleges.

	African	Non-African
Viewpoint	(N=78)	(N=100)
	(colum	n percentages)
1) Multi-benefit	59	11
2) Context-specific	10	46
3) Sustainability	14	24
Non-loaders	17	19
Total	100	100

Table 3—Association of viewpoints with nationality of respondents

reduce malnutrition and achieve other development outcomes. Among the three emergent viewpoints, there was general agreement on the value of linking agriculture, nutrition, and gender, and on the other beneficial outcomes that result from these linkages. The agreement on the importance and relevance of these linkages was unexpected. Moreover, the strong correlation between the viewpoints indicates that designing and developing policies and programs that support gender-sensitive agricultural approaches to improve nutritional well-being may be possible. All three factors considered gender-sensitive strategies to have some role in improving nutrition, which indicates the need to demonstrate how, as opposed to why, gender can be used to enhance the contributions of agricultural approaches to nutrition.

Despite general agreement among the viewpoints on the value of linking agriculture, nutrition, and gender, there seems to be less consensus and sustained commitment on how to promote such strategies. The reasons for a lack of linked agriculture and nutrition programming and supportive policies for addressing malnutrition may result more from different priorities across the three viewpoints than from a general lack of interest in agriculture. Each viewpoint emphasizes different policy and program objectives and methods to achieve them. While the multi-benefit viewpoint (Factor 1) and the sustainability-oriented viewpoint (Factor 3) indicate a commitment to using agriculture to improve nutrition, Factor 2 favors context-specific strategies for improving nutritional status. While those who significantly load on Factor 2 recognize that agriculture/nutrition-linked approaches potentially have multiple benefits, they feel that other approaches are more effective and should be given higher priority. The multibenefit viewpoint (Factor 1) is a strong promoter of multisectoral development, and so is committed to agriculture-based, multi-outcome strategies that improve nutrition. Factor 3 considers that the only truly sustainable methods to improve nutrition are food-based strategies, and therefore focuses on using agriculture to address malnutrition. Factors 1 and 3 demonstrate a strong commitment toward agriculture-based approaches, while those loaded on Factor 2 are more balanced in their views of the potential of a range of options to improve nutrition.

Notwithstanding the apparent loyalty toward agriculture-based approaches, a gap remains between existing evidence that demonstrates their effectiveness and efficiency, and support for them. One explanation for the lack of sustained commitment to agricultural strategies to address malnutrition may lie in the sorting of the "donor support"-related statements in the three factors. All three factors agreed that

There are political and economic influences that affect the allocation of resources...and to ensure progress in this area, lobbying efforts are needed to secure resources to strengthen agriculture and nutrition linkages (donor support, 26).

This indicates that donor preference may be largely responsible for the lack of substantial adoption of programs engaging these linkages.

The donors, though few in number relative to the total survey sample, loaded overwhelmingly on the context-specific viewpoint (Factor 2). Donors may see direct nutrition interventions as the fastest way to achieve measurable results. This may explain why resource allocation to agricultural interventions, including food-based approaches, has not been a high priority. Without the support of donors, it is difficult to acquire the resources necessary to implement agriculture-based nutrition interventions and to measure the multiple benefits associated with such programs. If, among donors, there is continued preference for direct nutrition programs such as supplementation programs, they will be funded at the expense of agriculture-based approaches.

In addition to the differences in priorities expressed in the three factors, the sustainability-oriented viewpoint (Factor 3) indicated that the absence of linkages might stem from a lack of cross-disciplinary education and training (disciplines, 13) and other institutional factors. Although those who loaded on the sustainability-oriented viewpoint (Factor 3) felt more strongly about this, the other factors agreed with this statement, which may indicate that all factors consider improved curricula to promote cross-disciplinary methods important for effectively enacting these linkages. The evidence from the five-country study, described in the introduction, demonstrated the effectiveness of linked strategies. Further successes such as these may require improved educational curricula and training to minimize operational constraints for using agricultural strategies to improve nutrition. The agreement across the three factors for linked approaches indicates that an extensive network of supporters exists and strategies should be developed that build on these common views and beliefs.

It is likely that the survey results are reflecting both the intuition and beliefs of the respondents on the potential of agriculture-nutrition linkages, as well as the respondents' knowledge from field experience of the effectiveness of these linkages on improving human nutrition. While broad general support for integrative agriculture-nutrition strategies is advantageous for their actual implementation, knowledge of their effectiveness would also be important for moving them forward in the development agenda. A review of the peer-reviewed literature by Ruel and Levin (2000) indicated that there remains insufficient evidence to confirm the efficacy and sustainability of agriculture-based strategies to improve micronutrient status. The focus of only one agricultural approach affecting one parameter of nutritional wellbeing—food-based approaches on micronutrient status—may not reflect the true potential of the linked agricultural-nutrition strategies to improve nutrition. These respondents' support of a broad range of agricultural approaches might arise from evidence based on field experience, such as what is being reported in the "grey literature" found in unrefereed sources, such as the program and project reports of international development organizations and in peer-reviewed journals (Bonnard 2001; Faber et al. 2001).

African respondents loaded most significantly on the multi-benefit viewpoint (Factor 1), which may demonstrate that they see nutrition within the broader context of development. Therefore, developing agriculture-based strategies to improve nutrition appears to be consistent with the goals and interests of African professionals because of the additional benefits that come from agricultural interventions. For African professionals, a regionally focused team of development workers could be assembled to develop an advocacy strategy to increase investments in and use of linked strategies.

While the range of statements for this analysis included topics that explored how respondents perceived the linkages between agriculture, nutrition, and gender, there were few statements addressing the range of reasons why these linkages have not been employed to address malnutrition. The "donor support" and "disciplines" categories enabled the researchers to begin to elucidate some reasons for the lack of relevant programs and policies, and further research in this area may be helpful in explaining why these linkages have not been more heavily pursued. Such research is currently underway in five Sub-Saharan African countries (SCN 2002).

The evidence from this survey has demonstrated that among a range of stakeholders, there is potential to develop interventions that cut across disciplinary boundaries to improve nutrition. While the sustainability of agriculture-based approaches is not clear, it is likely that those interventions based on good development practice will last. Further advocacy and promotion of these strategies should be pursued to both improve nutrition and to enable communities to benefit from the array of positive outcomes that are associated with agricultural strategies.

Appendix 1: Forty-eight Q-sort statements, by effects (category and agreement)
and factor sort values for each group

Category	Strongly Support (SS)	Cautious Support (CS)	Strongly Oppose (SO)
Impact (I)	1. Agricultural development contributes to economic growth, food self-sufficiency, livelihood security, and improved nutritional status of populations. Among these contributions, the most critical to development is improving the nutritional status of populations (+3,0, 0).	3.Agricultural research should devote more attention to reducing poverty than to achieving improved nutritional outcomes $(-1,-1,-2)$.	5. Agricultural research has its hands full in just helping smallholder farmers and countries grow more food. Incorporating nutrition concerns into agricultural research is difficult and ineffective in actually improving nutrition (-3,-3,-3).
		4. Without going the extra step to promote consumption of quality diets, increasing agricultural production of food crops will not necessarily lead to improved nutrition (+1,+3,+2).	6. Including nutrition objectives in agricultural research agendas has seldom moved agricultural research closer to addressing human needs $(-1,-1,-1)$.
Coordination (C)	7. Intersectoral coordination requires additional effort, but in recent years agricultural systems have become so overextended (i.e., they have to provide sufficient energy from cereals, as well as more vitamins and minerals from nonstaple foods—while at the same time protecting the environment) that we can no longer afford the luxury of ignoring linkages with human nutrition needs (0,0,0).	9. Taking an interdisciplinary approach to agriculture-nutrition linkages has clear potential benefits, but may introduce problems in achieving consensus and managing coordination among institutions (0,+1,0).	11. Organizations are most productive if they focus on doing a few things well. Trying to link agriculture and nutrition undercuts their comparative advantages and abilities to function efficiently and effectively (-1,-2,-1).
	8. Forging linkages between agriculture, nutrition, and health is necessary to reverse adverse effects of past policies that fostered short-term, unsustainable solutions to malnutrition and contributed to underdevelopment, and population growth (+3,0,+3).	10. Many observers feel the inability of nutrition planners and advocates to mobilize other development sectors for nutrition purposes led to self- contained nutrition interventions. Assuming this is true, the positive result in many countries has been programs that the nutrition community has been able to carry out on its own without the need for elaborate intersectoral collaboration (0,0,0).	12. Professionals within distinct disciplines, such as agriculture and nutrition, generally prefer to do the type of research that is rewarded and expected by their disciplines and organizations. Therefore, there is little incentive for multidisciplinary collaboration $(0,+1,+1)$.

Disciplines (D)	13. Promoting cross-fertilization of different methodologies used in agriculture and nutrition disciplines can occur if curricula are developed that promote cross-disciplinary methods and integrated approaches (+1,+1,+2).	15. Nutrition and health scientists are not trained in the linkages between agriculture policies with nutrition outcomes. And agricultural scientists often lack an adequate understanding of interactions between food availability, health care, and nutritional intake. These differences lead to different approaches that have little common ground (-1,+1,+3).	17. I don't believe that agricultural interventions to increase dietary diversity are an effective means to improve nutrition because they've rarely demonstrated their nutritional impacts (-2,-1,-2).	
	14. "How-to" guidelines that simplify the application of integrated approaches can strengthen agriculture and nutrition linkages (0,0,+1).	16. Discussions about linking agriculture and nutrition need a dynamic, new, and compelling format, or no one will spend the time or resources to make this happen (0,0,0).	18. Agriculturalists are best trained to contribute to the increased productivity of specific crops, and their training provides them with skills to work with commodities, not people $(-2,0,0)$.	
Gender (G)	19. Gender provides an opportunity for agriculture and nutrition specialists to come together, because all of these approaches focus on people who does what, with what resources and for whose benefit $(+2,+1,0)$.	21. While gender should guide the development and adoption of technologies, until someone shows me how to do that and demonstrates its effects, I'll just do what I've been trained to do (-1,-2,-2).	23. "Gender" is just about women and therefore discriminatory and exclusionary. For that reason, I have strong reservations about using a gender approach to resolving malnutrition, whether that is through food-based strategies or others (-3,-3,-2).	
	20. Without explicit attention to gender, agriculture and nutrition specialists will miss critical factors in the design and operation of programs, undercutting their expected results (+1,+3,+1).	22. The problem we face worldwide is not agricultural production or nutrient consumption; it is distribution of food. This is highly dependent on open market and trade policies. While gender may be relevant at a household level, it is not relevant at the macro level (-1,-2,-1).	24. Because gender differentials can be strongly rooted in social systems and norms, it is not something I think I should get involved in to strengthen agriculture or nutrition interventions (-3,-3,-1).	
Donor support (DS)	25. There have been numerous small-scale successes in fighting hunger and malnutrition, but these problems persist because of a lack of political and administrative commitment to applying the lessons learned more widely (+2,+1,+1).	27. I feel a more balanced mix of short-term solutions, such as supplements, and long-term approaches, such as food-based strategies, should be pursued only if there is compelling evidence from cost- effectiveness studies that shows nutritional impact of long-term solutions $(0,-1,-1)$.	29. Donors do not want to fund the effort it takes to build or maintain partnerships between agriculture and nutrition specialists (-1,0,-1).	

	26. I recognize the importance of exploiting the synergies between the nutrition and agriculture sectors, and I feel that more funding should be available for programs that seek to do that $(+3,+2,+3)$.	28. Budgets for development are declining, and there are political and economic influences that affect the allocation of resources. Without a constituency to lobby for increased resources to strengthen agriculture and nutrition linkages, we will not see any progress in this area $(+1,+2,0)$.	30. The problem of coordinating across the technical sectors of nutrition and agriculture activities begins with the organizational structure of donor agencies. Donor agencies are not set up to promote cross- sectoral initiatives (0,+1,0).	
Sustainability (S)	31. Food-based strategies to increase the production, availability and access to food are the only truly sustainable solutions for improving nutritional status $(+1,-3,+2)$.	33. Some situations where nutritional status is poor call for food-based solutions, others nonfood solutions. It is not the solution, but the situation that is the deciding factor $(0,+3,+2)$.	35. Food-based strategies are too difficult to start up and take too long to show an effect (-2,-2,-3).	
	32. Agriculture production strategies, combined with nutrition education to promote dietary diversification should be pursued, as the alternatives for reducing malnutrition are not sustainable $(0,-1,+2)$.	34. Food-based strategies can improve overall nutritional status of a population, but they may not be enough to meet peak requirements at certain stages in the life cycle, e.g., for iron during pregnancy. In that instance, other approaches must be used $(+2,+3,+1)$.	36. Food-based interventions require substantial behavioral change and/or time investment. Program beneficiaries may change their behavior temporarily but then revert to old habits and customs, so why bother? (-2,-2,-2)	
Economic Benefits (E)	37. Linking agriculture and nutrition to promote dietary change and improve nutritional status can generate wide economic benefits, such as increased agricultural production, greater household income, and greater control of resources by women (+2,+2,+2).	39. Direct interventions, such as micronutrient supplements and food fortification, are cost- effective and should be preferred over agriculture production strategies (home gardens, small ruminant production, plant breeding), even though agriculture production strategies may have a variety of additional benefits (-3,-2,-3).	41. Investing in agricul ture strategies to improve nutrition does not have as high a return as investing in public health strategies to improve nutritional status (-2,0,-2).	
	38. We do not need to spend any more time on research to demonstrate that food-based strategies are worthy investments. We do not need to use economic justifications to support the notion that no one should go to bed hungry (-1,-1,-1).	40. To date, evaluations of food- based strategies (including home gardens, small ruminant production, nutrition education, and improved postharvest processing) are not rigorous enough, are too unstructured, and rely mainly on anecdotal information (0,0,0).	42. Strategies to reduce micronutrient deficiencies through increased production, availability, and access to micronutrient-rich foods are not as cost-effective as other interventions, such as food fortification and capsule supplementation $(-2,0,-3)$.	

Awareness (A)	43. There is overwhelming evidence, based on actual field experience in developing countries, that community- driven, food-based approaches can be extremely effective in solving the problems of undernutrition, including micronutrient malnutrition, in developing countries (+2,- 1,+1).	45. National-level efforts, such as agricultural policies to bring down the price of staple and nonstaple foods, are just as important as community and household-level interventions to increase dietary diversification, for both farm and nonfarm households (+1,+2,0).	47. Because population growth increases demand for food well beyond current production levels, agricultural research is essential to develop technologies that increase yields. Advances in plant breeding such as drought- resistant crops and high-yield seed are likely to be our only hope of feeding the people of the world during the coming decades $(+1,-1,-1)$.
	44. We must consider ways that agriculture can contribute to reducing food system failures by linking agricultural production to improving human health, livelihoods, and well-being $(+2,+2,+3)$.	46. There needs to be a reorientation in the objectives and methods of agricultural planning. The current focus on production technology, and neglect of the consumer's perspective, has severely limited the contributions of agricultural planning to long-term improvements in nutritional status $(0,+1,+1)$.	48. The most critical elements in reducing hunger and other forms of malnutrition are ensuring a policy environment that supports responsible, fair, and transparent trade, fiscal and monetary practices; secure property rights and access to financial services; and citizen participation in decisionmaking (+1,0,0).

	Viewp	oint 1	Viewp	oint 2	Viewpo	Viewpoint 3		
	Statement	Z-score	Statement	Z-score	Statement	Z-score		
Agreement	1	1.63	34	1.58	44	1.72		
(top 10 statements)	2	1.58	20	1.58	26	1.49		
	8	1.39	33	1.48	15	1.36		
	26	1.22	4	1.40	8	1.22		
	43	1.20	44	1.28	4	1.20		
	25	1.19	2	1.25	32	1.19		
	37	1.18	37	1.10	37	1.08		
	34	1.10	26	1.05	13	0.96		
	44	1.06	45	1.04	31	0.94		
	19	1.05	28	1.03	33	0.91		
Disagreement	23	-1.86	23	-2.05	39	-1.98		
(top 10 statements)	24	-1.62	24	-1.74	42	-1.86		
· • /	5	-1.54	31	-1.62	5	-1.63		
	39	-1.46	5	-1.60	35	-1.61		
	41	-1.39	21	-1.34	36	-1.55		
	17	-1.39	36	-1.27	17	-1.47		
	18	-1.29	11	-1.27	23	-1.15		
	42	-1.24	35	-1.24	21	-1.14		
	36	-1.10	39	-1.02	41	-1.12		
	35	-1.03	22	-0.93	3	-1.11		

Appendix 2: Statements with highest level of agreement and disagreement, by viewpoint (factor)

Notes: See Appendix 1 for the text of each statement. Boldface type indicates a "distinguishing statement." Distinguishing statements are those in which the average factor score for one viewpoint is significantly different from the average factor scores of the other groups. That is, they are the statements that help the most in differentiating between the factors. Z-scores in this table are not normalized to the seven-point scale.

				Iss	ue catego	ories			
	Factor 1			Factor 2			Factor 3		
	SS	CS	SO	SS	CS	SO	SS	CS	SO
Agreement									
Impact	1, 2			2	4			4	
Coordination	8						8		
Donor support	25, 26			26	28		26		
Disciplines							13	15	
Awareness	43, 44			44	45		44		
Sustainability		34			33, 34		31, 32	33	
Economic benefits	37			37			37		
Gender	19			20					
Disagreement									
Impact			5			5		3	5
Coordination						11			
Donor support									
Disciplines			17, 18						17
Awareness									
Sustainability			35, 36	31		35, 36			35, 36
Economic Benefits		39	41, 42		39			39	41, 42
Gender			23, 24		22, 21	23, 24		21	23

Appendix 3: Salience of categories for viewpoints of each group, by statement number and agreement category

Notes: SS: strongly support; CS: cautiously support; SO: strongly oppose.

References

- ACC/SCN (United Nations Administrative Committee on Coordination Sub-Committee on Nutrition). 2000. Fourth report on the world nutrition situation. Geneva:
 ACC/SCN in collaboration with the International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Bonnard, P. 2001. Improving the nutrition impacts of agriculture interventions: strategy and policy brief. Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance Project. Washington, D.C.: Academy for Educational Development.
- Brown, S. 1971. The forced-free distinction in Q technique. *Journal of Educational Measurement* 8: 283-287.

_____. 1980. *Political subjectivity*. New Haven, Conn., U.S.A.: Yale University Press.

- Faber, M., S. Venter, M. A. S. Phyngula, and A. J. S. Benade. 2001. An integrated public health care and provitamin A household food-production program: Impact on food-consumption patterns. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 22 (4): 370–375.
- Feldstein, H., and S. Poats. 1989. *Working together: Gender analysis in agriculture.* West Hartford, Conn., U.S.A.: Kumarian Press.
- Garrett, J., M. Ruel, and R. Hussain. 2000. Obese mother/stunted child: Should program and policy makers worry about this phenomenon? Abstract 556.7. *FASEB Journal* 14 (4): A792.
- Hagenimana, V., M. Anyango-Oyunga, J. Low, S. M. Njoroge, S. Gichuki, and J. Kabira.
 1999. The effects of women farmers' adoption of orange-fleshed sweet potatoes:
 Raising vitamin A intake in Kenya. Washington, D.C.: International Center for
 Research on Women.
- Hagenimana, V., J. Low, M. Anyango, K. Kurz, and S. T. Gichuki. 2001. Enhancing vitamin A intake in young children in western Kenya: Orange. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 22 (4): 376–387.

- Johnson-Welch, C. 1999. Focusing on women works: Research on improving micronutrient status through food-based interventions. Washington, D.C.: International Center for Research on Women.
- Johnson-Welch, C., C. B. Alemu, T. P. Msaki, M. Sengendo, H. Kigutha, and A. Wolff. 2000. Improving household food security: Institutions, gender and integrated approaches. Madison, Wis., U.S.A.: BASIS Research Project.
- Kennedy, E. 1994. Approaches to linking agriculture and nutrition programmes. *Health Policy and Planning* 9 (3): 294–305.
- Kennedy, E., and H. Bouis. 1993. Linkages between agriculture and nutrition: Implications for policy and research. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Kurz, K., and C. Johnson-Welch. 2001. Enhancing women's contributions to improving family food consumption and nutrition. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 22 (4): 443-453.
- Mehra, R. 1994. Raising productivity: The role of women farmers. Proceedings of the XXII Conference of the International Association of Agricultural Economists, Harare, Zimbabwe.
- Peduzzi, C. 1990. Home and community gardens assessment program implementation experience: The tip of the iceberg. Washington, D.C.: International Science and Technology Institute.
- Pelletier, D., V. Kraak, C. McCullum, U. Uusitalo, and R. Rich. 1999. The shaping of collective values through deliberative democracy: An empirical study from New Yorks' north country. *Policy Sciences* 32: 103–131.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P. 1981. Nutritional consequences of agricultural projects: Conceptual relationships and assessment approaches. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P., A. Berg, and M. Forman. 1984. International agricultural research and human nutrition. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

- Popkin, B., S. Horton, and S. Kim. 2000. The nutrition transition and diet-related chronic diseases in Asia: Implications for prevention. Manila: Asian Development Bank.
- Ruel, M., and C. Levin. 2000. Assessing the potential for food-based strategies to reduce vitamin A and iron deficiencies: A review of recent evidence. Food Consumption and Nutrition Division Discussion Paper 92. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- SCN (UN Standing Committee on Nutrition). 2002. The Agriculture and Nutrition Advantage Project: A multicountry effort to reduce hunger and malnutrition. SCN News, Geneva.
- Smith, L., and L. Haddad. 2000. Explaining child malnutrition in developing countries: A cross-country analysis. Research Report 111. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Soleri, D., D. Cleveland, and T. Frankenberger. 1991. *Gardens and vitamin A: A review* of recent literature. Washington, D.C.: International Science and Technology Institute.
- Soleri, D., D. Cleveland, and A. Wood. 1991. *Vitamin A nutrition and gardens: Bibliography*. Washington, D.C.: International Science and Technology Institute.
- Tripp, R. 1990. Does nutrition have a place in agricultural research? *Food Policy*: 15 (6): 467-474.
- USAID (United States Agency for International Development). 1982. *Nutrition*. Washington, D.C.
 - _____. 1999. *Strategic plan.* Center for population, health and nutrition, Bureau for Global Programs, Field Support and Research. Washington, D.C.
- _____. 2000. *Strategic plan: FY 1998–2003*. Bureau for Africa, Office of Sustainable Development. Washington, D.C.
- Wilkins, J., V. Kraak, D. Pelletier, C. McCullum, and U. Uusitalo. 2001. Moving from debate to dialogue about genetically engineered foods and crops: Insights from a land grant university. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture* 18 (2/3): 167–200.

- **153** Maquiladoras and Market Mamas: Women's Work and Childcare in Guatemala City and Accra, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Kelly Hallman, and Marie T. Ruel, June 2003
- **152** *Income Diversification in Zimbabwe: Welfare Implications From Urban and Rural Areas*, Lire Ersado, June 2003
- 151 Childcare and Work: Joint Decisions Among Women in Poor Neighborhoods of Guatemala City, Kelly Hallman, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Marie T. Ruel, and Bénédicte de la Brière, June 2003
- 150 The Impact of PROGRESA on Food Consumption, John Hoddinott and Emmanuel Skoufias, May 2003
- 149 Do Crowded Classrooms Crowd Out Learning? Evidence From the Food for Education Program in Bangladesh, Akhter U. Ahmed and Mary Arends-Kuenning, May 2003
- 148 Stunted Child-Overweight Mother Pairs: An Emerging Policy Concern? James L. Garrett and Marie T. Ruel, April 2003
- 147 Are Neighbors Equal? Estimating Local Inequality in Three Developing Countries, Chris Elbers, Peter Lanjouw, Johan Mistiaen, Berk Özler, and Kenneth Simler, April 2003
- **146** *Moving Forward with Complementary Feeding: Indicators and Research Priorities*, Marie T. Ruel, Kenneth H. Brown, and Laura E. Caulfield, April 2003
- 145 *Child Labor and School Decisions in Urban and Rural Areas: Cross Country Evidence*, Lire Ersado, December 2002
- 144 Targeting Outcomes Redux, David Coady, Margaret Grosh, and John Hoddinott, December 2002
- 143 Progress in Developing an Infant and Child Feeding Index: An Example Using the Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2000, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, December 2002
- 142 Social Capital and Coping With Economic Shocks: An Analysis of Stunting of South African Children, Michael R. Carter and John A. Maluccio, December 2002
- 141 *The Sensitivity of Calorie-Income Demand Elasticity to Price Changes: Evidence from Indonesia*, Emmanuel Skoufias, November 2002
- 140 Is Dietary Diversity an Indicator of Food Security or Dietary Quality? A Review of Measurement Issues and Research Needs, Marie T. Ruel, November 2002
- 139 Can South Africa Afford to Become Africa's First Welfare State? James Thurlow, October 2002
- **138** The Food for Education Program in Bangladesh: An Evaluation of its Impact on Educational Attainment and Food Security, Akhter U. Ahmed and Carlo del Ninno, September 2002
- **137** *Reducing Child Undernutrition: How Far Does Income Growth Take Us?* Lawrence Haddad, Harold Alderman, Simon Appleton, Lina Song, and Yisehac Yohannes, August 2002
- 136 Dietary Diversity as a Food Security Indicator, John Hoddinott and Yisehac Yohannes, June 2002
- **135** *Trust, Membership in Groups, and Household Welfare: Evidence from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa,* Lawrence Haddad and John A. Maluccio, May 2002
- 134 In-Kind Transfers and Household Food Consumption: Implications for Targeted Food Programs in Bangladesh, Carlo del Ninno and Paul A. Dorosh, May 2002
- **133** Avoiding Chronic and Transitory Poverty: Evidence From Egypt, 1997-99, Lawrence Haddad and Akhter U. Ahmed, May 2002
- **132** Weighing What's Practical: Proxy Means Tests for Targeting Food Subsidies in Egypt, Akhter U. Ahmed and Howarth E. Bouis, May 2002
- 131 Does Subsidized Childcare Help Poor Working Women in Urban Areas? Evaluation of a Government-Sponsored Program in Guatemala City, Marie T. Ruel, Bénédicte de la Brière, Kelly Hallman, Agnes Quisumbing, and Nora Coj, April 2002
- **130** Creating a Child Feeding Index Using the Demographic and Health Surveys: An Example from Latin America, Marie T. Ruel and Purnima Menon, April 2002

- **129** Labor Market Shocks and Their Impacts on Work and Schooling: Evidence from Urban Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- **128** Assessing the Impact of Agricultural Research on Poverty Using the Sustainable Livelihoods Framework, Michelle Adato and Ruth Meinzen-Dick, March 2002
- 127 A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Demand- and Supply-Side Education Interventions: The Case of PROGRESA in Mexico, David P. Coady and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- 126 Health Care Demand in Rural Mozambique: Evidence from the 1996/97 Household Survey, Magnus Lindelow, February 2002
- **125** Are the Welfare Losses from Imperfect Targeting Important?, Emmanuel Skoufias and David Coady, January 2002
- 124 *The Robustness of Poverty Profiles Reconsidered*, Finn Tarp, Kenneth Simler, Cristina Matusse, Rasmus Heltberg, and Gabriel Dava, January 2002
- 123 Conditional Cash Transfers and Their Impact on Child Work and Schooling: Evidence from the PROGRESA Program in Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, October 2001
- 122 Strengthening Public Safety Nets: Can the Informal Sector Show the Way?, Jonathan Morduch and Manohar Sharma, September 2001
- 121 Targeting Poverty Through Community-Based Public Works Programs: A Cross-Disciplinary Assessment of Recent Experience in South Africa, Michelle Adato and Lawrence Haddad, August 2001
- **120** Control and Ownership of Assets Within Rural Ethiopian Households, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, August 2001
- **119** Assessing Care: Progress Towards the Measurement of Selected Childcare and Feeding Practices, and Implications for Programs, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, August 2001
- **118** *Is* PROGRESA *Working? Summary of the Results of an Evaluation by IFPRI*, Emmanuel Skoufias and Bonnie McClafferty, July 2001
- **117** Evaluation of the Distributional Power of PROGRESA's Cash Transfers in Mexico, David P. Coady, July 2001
- **116** A Multiple-Method Approach to Studying Childcare in an Urban Environment: The Case of Accra, Ghana, Marie T. Ruel, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, and Mary Arimond, June 2001
- 115 Are Women Overrepresented Among the Poor? An Analysis of Poverty in Ten Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christina Peña, June 2001
- 114 Distribution, Growth, and Performance of Microfinance Institutions in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, Cécile Lapenu and Manfred Zeller, June 2001
- 113 Measuring Power, Elizabeth Frankenberg and Duncan Thomas, June 2001
- **112** Effective Food and Nutrition Policy Responses to HIV/AIDS: What We Know and What We Need to Know, Lawrence Haddad and Stuart Gillespie, June 2001
- 111 An Operational Tool for Evaluating Poverty Outreach of Development Policies and Projects, Manfred Zeller, Manohar Sharma, Carla Henry, and Cécile Lapenu, June 2001
- **110** Evaluating Transfer Programs Within a General Equilibrium Framework, Dave Coady and Rebecca Lee Harris, June 2001
- **109** Does Cash Crop Adoption Detract From Childcare Provision? Evidence From Rural Nepal, Michael J. Paolisso, Kelly Hallman, Lawrence Haddad, and Shibesh Regmi, April 2001
- **108** How Efficiently Do Employment Programs Transfer Benefits to the Poor? Evidence from South Africa, Lawrence Haddad and Michelle Adato, April 2001
- 107 Rapid Assessments in Urban Areas: Lessons from Bangladesh and Tanzania, James L. Garrett and Jeanne Downen, April 2001
- 106 Strengthening Capacity to Improve Nutrition, Stuart Gillespie, March 2001

- **105** *The Nutritional Transition and Diet-Related Chronic Diseases in Asia: Implications for Prevention*, Barry M. Popkin, Sue Horton, and Soowon Kim, March 2001
- **104** An Evaluation of the Impact of PROGRESA on Preschool Child Height, Jere R. Behrman and John Hoddinott, March 2001
- **103** *Targeting the Poor in Mexico: An Evaluation of the Selection of Households for PROGRESA*, Emmanuel Skoufias, Benjamin Davis, and Sergio de la Vega, March 2001
- **102** School Subsidies for the Poor: Evaluating a Mexican Strategy for Reducing Poverty, T. Paul Schultz, March 2001
- **101** *Poverty, Inequality, and Spillover in Mexico's Education, Health, and Nutrition Program*, Sudhanshu Handa, Mari-Carmen Huerta, Raul Perez, and Beatriz Straffon, March 2001
- **100** On the Targeting and Redistributive Efficiencies of Alternative Transfer Instruments, David Coady and Emmanuel Skoufias, March 2001
- **99** *Cash Transfer Programs with Income Multipliers: PROCAMPO in Mexico*, Elisabeth Sadoulet, Alain de Janvry, and Benjamin Davis, January 2001
- **98** *Participation and Poverty Reduction: Issues, Theory, and New Evidence from South Africa, John Hoddinott, Michelle Adato, Tim Besley, and Lawrence Haddad, January 2001*
- 97 Socioeconomic Differentials in Child Stunting Are Consistently Larger in Urban Than in Rural Areas, Purnima Menon, Marie T. Ruel, and Saul S. Morris, December 2000
- 96 Attrition in Longitudinal Household Survey Data: Some Tests for Three Developing-Country Samples, Harold Alderman, Jere R. Behrman, Hans-Peter Kohler, John A. Maluccio, Susan Cotts Watkins, October 2000
- 95 Attrition in the Kwazulu Natal Income Dynamics Study 1993-1998, John Maluccio, October 2000
- **94** *Targeting Urban Malnutrition: A Multicity Analysis of the Spatial Distribution of Childhood Nutritional Status*, Saul Sutkover Morris, September 2000
- **93** *Mother-Father Resource Control, Marriage Payments, and Girl-Boy Health in Rural Bangladesh*, Kelly K. Hallman, September 2000
- 92 Assessing the Potential for Food-Based Strategies to Reduce Vitamin A and Iron Deficiencies: A Review of Recent Evidence, Marie T. Ruel and Carol E. Levin, July 2000
- **91** Comparing Village Characteristics Derived From Rapid Appraisals and Household Surveys: A Tale From Northern Mali, Luc Christiaensen, John Hoddinott, and Gilles Bergeron, July 2000
- **90** Empirical Measurements of Households' Access to Credit and Credit Constraints in Developing Countries: Methodological Issues and Evidence, Aliou Diagne, Manfred Zeller, and Manohar Sharma, July 2000
- 89 The Role of the State in Promoting Microfinance Institutions, Cécile Lapenu, June 2000
- **88** *The Determinants of Employment Status in Egypt*, Ragui Assaad, Fatma El-Hamidi, and Akhter U. Ahmed, June 2000
- **87** *Changes in Intrahousehold Labor Allocation to Environmental Goods Collection: A Case Study from Rural Nepal*, Priscilla A. Cooke, May 2000
- **86** *Women's Assets and Intrahousehold Allocation in Rural Bangladesh: Testing Measures of Bargaining Power*, Agnes R. Quisumbing and Bénédicte de la Brière, April 2000
- 85 Intrahousehold Impact of Transfer of Modern Agricultural Technology: A Gender Perspective, Ruchira Tabassum Naved, April 2000
- 84 Intrahousehold Allocation and Gender Relations: New Empirical Evidence from Four Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing and John A. Maluccio, April 2000
- **83** *Quality or Quantity? The Supply-Side Determinants of Primary Schooling in Rural Mozambique*, Sudhanshu Handa and Kenneth R. Simler, March 2000

- 82 Pathways of Rural Development in Madagascar: An Empirical Investigation of the Critical Triangle of Environmental Sustainability, Economic Growth, and Poverty Alleviation, Manfred Zeller, Cécile Lapenu, Bart Minten, Eliane Ralison, Désiré Randrianaivo, and Claude Randrianarisoa, March 2000
- 81 *The Constraints to Good Child Care Practices in Accra: Implications for Programs*, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Daniel G. Maxwell, Carol E. Levin, and Saul S. Morris, February 2000
- **80** Nontraditional Crops and Land Accumulation Among Guatemalan Smallholders: Is the Impact Sustainable? Calogero Carletto, February 2000
- 79 Adult Health in the Time of Drought, John Hoddinott and Bill Kinsey, January 2000
- 78 Determinants of Poverty in Mozambique: 1996-97, Gaurav Datt, Kenneth Simler, Sanjukta Mukherjee, and Gabriel Dava, January 2000
- 77 The Political Economy of Food Subsidy Reform in Egypt, Tammi Gutner, November 1999.
- 76 Raising Primary School Enrolment in Developing Countries: The Relative Importance of Supply and Demand, Sudhanshu Handa, November 1999
- 75 Determinants of Poverty in Egypt, 1997, Gaurav Datt and Dean Jolliffe, October 1999
- 74 Can Cash Transfer Programs Work in Resource-Poor Countries? The Experience in Mozambique, Jan W. Low, James L. Garrett, and Vitória Ginja, October 1999
- 73 Social Roles, Human Capital, and the Intrahousehold Division of Labor: Evidence from Pakistan, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, October 1999
- 72 Validity of Rapid Estimates of Household Wealth and Income for Health Surveys in Rural Africa, Saul S. Morris, Calogero Carletto, John Hoddinott, and Luc J. M. Christiaensen, October 1999
- 71 *Social Capital and Income Generation in South Africa, 1993-98*, John Maluccio, Lawrence Haddad, and Julian May, September 1999
- 70 *Child Health Care Demand in a Developing Country: Unconditional Estimates from the Philippines*, Kelly Hallman, August 1999
- 69 Supply Response of West African Agricultural Households: Implications of Intrahousehold Preference Heterogeneity, Lisa C. Smith and Jean-Paul Chavas, July 1999
- 68 *Early Childhood Nutrition and Academic Achievement: A Longitudinal Analysis*, Paul Glewwe, Hanan Jacoby, and Elizabeth King, May 1999
- 67 Determinants of Household Access to and Participation in Formal and Informal Credit Markets in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, April 1999
- 66 *Working Women in an Urban Setting: Traders, Vendors, and Food Security in Accra*, Carol E. Levin, Daniel G. Maxwell, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Saul S. Morris, and Clement Ahiadeke, April 1999
- 65 Are Determinants of Rural and Urban Food Security and Nutritional Status Different? Some Insights from Mozambique, James L. Garrett and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- 64 Some Urban Facts of Life: Implications for Research and Policy, Marie T. Ruel, Lawrence Haddad, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 63 *Are Urban Poverty and Undernutrition Growing? Some Newly Assembled Evidence*, Lawrence Haddad, Marie T. Ruel, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 62 Good Care Practices Can Mitigate the Negative Effects of Poverty and Low Maternal Schooling on Children's Nutritional Status: Evidence from Accra, Marie T. Ruel, Carol E. Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Saul S. Morris, April 1999
- 61 Does Geographic Targeting of Nutrition Interventions Make Sense in Cities? Evidence from Abidjan and Accra, Saul S. Morris, Carol Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- **60** *Explaining Child Malnutrition in Developing Countries: A Cross-Country Analysis*, Lisa C. Smith and Lawrence Haddad, April 1999

- **59** *Placement and Outreach of Group-Based Credit Organizations: The Cases of ASA, BRAC, and PROSHIKA in Bangladesh*, Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, March 1999
- 58 Women's Land Rights in the Transition to Individualized Ownership: Implications for the Management of Tree Resources in Western Ghana, Agnes Quisumbing, Ellen Payongayong, J. B. Aidoo, and Keijiro Otsuka, February 1999
- 57 The Structure of Wages During the Economic Transition in Romania, Emmanuel Skoufias, February 1999
- 56 How Does the Human Rights Perspective Help to Shape the Food and Nutrition Policy Research Agenda?, Lawrence Haddad and Arne Oshaug, February 1999
- 55 *Efficiency in Intrahousehold Resource Allocation*, Marcel Fafchamps, December 1998
- 54 *Endogeneity of Schooling in the Wage Function: Evidence from the Rural Philippines*, John Maluccio, November 1998
- 53 Agricultural Wages and Food Prices in Egypt: A Governorate-Level Analysis for 1976-1993, Gaurav Datt and Jennifer Olmsted, November 1998
- 52 *Testing Nash Bargaining Household Models With Time-Series Data*, John Hoddinott and Christopher Adam, November 1998
- 51 Urban Challenges to Food and Nutrition Security: A Review of Food Security, Health, and Caregiving in the Cities, Marie T. Ruel, James L. Garrett, Saul S. Morris, Daniel Maxwell, Arne Oshaug, Patrice Engle, Purnima Menon, Alison Slack, and Lawrence Haddad, October 1998
- 50 Computational Tools for Poverty Measurement and Analysis, Gaurav Datt, October 1998
- 49 *A Profile of Poverty in Egypt: 1997*, Gaurav Datt, Dean Jolliffe, and Manohar Sharma, August 1998.
- **48** *Human Capital, Productivity, and Labor Allocation in Rural Pakistan*, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1998
- 47 Poverty in India and Indian States: An Update, Gaurav Datt, July 1998
- 46 Impact of Access to Credit on Income and Food Security in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, July 1998
- **45** *Does Urban Agriculture Help Prevent Malnutrition? Evidence from Kampala*, Daniel Maxwell, Carol Levin, and Joanne Csete, June 1998
- 44 *Can FAO's Measure of Chronic Undernourishment Be Strengthened?*, Lisa C. Smith, with a *Response* by Logan Naiken, May 1998
- 43 *How Reliable Are Group Informant Ratings? A Test of Food Security Rating in Honduras*, Gilles Bergeron, Saul Sutkover Morris, and Juan Manuel Medina Banegas, April 1998
- 42 Farm Productivity and Rural Poverty in India, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1998
- 41 The Political Economy of Urban Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa, Dan Maxwell, February 1998
- **40** *Can Qualitative and Quantitative Methods Serve Complementary Purposes for Policy Research? Evidence from Accra*, Dan Maxwell, January 1998
- **39** *Whose Education Matters in the Determination of Household Income: Evidence from a Developing Country,* Dean Jolliffe, November 1997
- **38** Systematic Client Consultation in Development: The Case of Food Policy Research in Ghana, India, Kenya, and Mali, Suresh Chandra Babu, Lynn R. Brown, and Bonnie McClafferty, November 1997
- 37 *Why Do Migrants Remit? An Analysis for the Dominican Sierra*, Bénédicte de la Brière, Alain de Janvry, Sylvie Lambert, and Elisabeth Sadoulet, October 1997
- **36** *The GAPVU Cash Transfer Program in Mozambique: An assessment*, Gaurav Datt, Ellen Payongayong, James L. Garrett, and Marie Ruel, October 1997
- 35 Market Access by Smallholder Farmers in Malawi: Implications for Technology Adoption, Agricultural Productivity, and Crop Income, Manfred Zeller, Aliou Diagne, and Charles Mataya, September 1997

- 34 *The Impact of Changes in Common Property Resource Management on Intrahousehold Allocation*, Philip Maggs and John Hoddinott, September 1997
- 33 Human Milk—An Invisible Food Resource, Anne Hatløy and Arne Oshaug, August 1997
- 32 *The Determinants of Demand for Micronutrients: An Analysis of Rural Households in Bangladesh*, Howarth E. Bouis and Mary Jane G. Novenario-Reese, August 1997
- **31** *Is There an Intrahousehold 'Flypaper Effect'? Evidence from a School Feeding Program*, Hanan Jacoby, August 1997
- **30** *Plant Breeding: A Long-Term Strategy for the Control of Zinc Deficiency in Vulnerable Populations*, Marie T. Ruel and Howarth E. Bouis, July 1997
- 29 *Gender, Property Rights, and Natural Resources*, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Lynn R. Brown, Hilary Sims Feldstein, and Agnes R. Quisumbing, May 1997
- 28 Developing a Research and Action Agenda for Examining Urbanization and Caregiving: Examples from Southern and Eastern Africa, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, James L. Garrett, and Alison Slack, April 1997
- 27 "Bargaining" and Gender Relations: Within and Beyond the Household, Bina Agarwal, March 1997
- 26 Why Have Some Indian States Performed Better Than Others at Reducing Rural Poverty?, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1997
- 25 Water, Health, and Income: A Review, John Hoddinott, February 1997
- 24 Child Care Practices Associated with Positive and Negative Nutritional Outcomes for Children in Bangladesh: A Descriptive Analysis, Shubh K. Kumar Range, Ruchira Naved, and Saroj Bhattarai, February 1997
- **23** *Better Rich, or Better There? Grandparent Wealth, Coresidence, and Intrahousehold Allocation*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, January 1997
- 22 Alternative Approaches to Locating the Food Insecure: Qualitative and Quantitative Evidence from South India, Kimberly Chung, Lawrence Haddad, Jayashree Ramakrishna, and Frank Riely, January 1997
- 21 *Livestock Income, Male/Female Animals, and Inequality in Rural Pakistan*, Richard H. Adams, Jr., November 1996
- 20 *Macroeconomic Crises and Poverty Monitoring: A Case Study for India*, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, November 1996
- **19** *Food Security and Nutrition Implications of Intrahousehold Bias: A Review of Literature*, Lawrence Haddad, Christine Peña, Chizuru Nishida, Agnes Quisumbing, and Alison Slack, September 1996
- 18 *Care and Nutrition: Concepts and Measurement*, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, and Lawrence Haddad, August 1996
- 17 Remittances, Income Distribution, and Rural Asset Accumulation, Richard H. Adams, Jr., August 1996
- 16 How Can Safety Nets Do More with Less? General Issues with Some Evidence from Southern Africa, Lawrence Haddad and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 15 *Repayment Performance in Group-Based credit Programs in Bangladesh: An Empirical Analysis*, Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 14 Demand for High-Value Secondary Crops in Developing Countries: The Case of Potatoes in Bangladesh and Pakistan, Howarth E. Bouis and Gregory Scott, May 1996
- 13 Determinants of Repayment Performance in Credit Groups: The Role of Program Design, Intra-Group Risk Pooling, and Social Cohesion in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, May 1996
- 12 *Child Development: Vulnerability and Resilience*, Patrice L. Engle, Sarah Castle, and Purnima Menon, April 1996

FCND DISCUSSION PAPERS

- 11 Rural Financial Policies for Food Security of the Poor: Methodologies for a Multicountry Research Project, Manfred Zeller, Akhter Ahmed, Suresh Babu, Sumiter Broca, Aliou Diagne, and Manohar Sharma, April 1996
- 10 *Women's Economic Advancement Through Agricultural Change: A Review of Donor Experience*, Christine Peña, Patrick Webb, and Lawrence Haddad, February 1996
- **09** *Gender and Poverty: New Evidence from 10 Developing Countries*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christine Peña, December 1995
- **08** *Measuring Food Insecurity: The Frequency and Severity of "Coping Strategies,"* Daniel G. Maxwell, December 1995
- **07** *A Food Demand System Based on Demand for Characteristics: If There Is "Curvature" in the Slutsky Matrix, What Do the Curves Look Like and Why?*, Howarth E. Bouis, December 1995
- **06** *Gender Differentials in Farm Productivity: Implications for Household Efficiency and Agricultural Policy,* Harold Alderman, John Hoddinott, Lawrence Haddad, and Christopher Udry, August 1995
- **05** Gender Differences in Agricultural Productivity: A Survey of Empirical Evidence, Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1995
- 04 Market Development and Food Demand in Rural China, Jikun Huang and Scott Rozelle, June 1995
- **03** *The Extended Family and Intrahousehold Allocation: Inheritance and Investments in Children in the Rural Philippines*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, March 1995
- **02** Determinants of Credit Rationing: A Study of Informal Lenders and Formal Credit Groups in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, October 1994
- **01** Agricultural Technology and Food Policy to Combat Iron Deficiency in Developing Countries, Howarth E. Bouis, August 1994